

# MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the  
**LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY**  
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library  
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals  
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

**LAWS**  
**OF THE**  
**STATE OF MAINE**

**AS PASSED BY THE**

**ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIXTH LEGISLATURE**

**FIRST REGULAR SESSION**  
**December 5, 2012 to July 10, 2013**

**THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR**  
**FIRST REGULAR SESSION**  
**NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS**  
**OCTOBER 9, 2013**

**PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES**  
**IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,**  
**TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.**

---

---

**Augusta, Maine**  
**2013**

rules that the commissioner considers necessary for the protection of the wild turkey resource.

**1. Spring season.** The commissioner shall establish by rule a spring open season for hunting wild turkeys. Unless the commissioner determines that sound management principles require otherwise, the rule must allow during the spring open season for hunting wild turkeys:

A. A person to take up to 2 wild turkeys without any additional fee for the taking of the 2nd wild turkey;

B. A person to hunt from 30 minutes before sunrise to 30 minutes after sunset. This paragraph is repealed August 1, 2016; and

C. A person to hunt wild turkeys using a cross-bow, in addition to any other weapons allowed by the rule.

**2. Fall season.** Beginning with the 2014 fall open season, the commissioner shall establish by rule a fall open season for hunting wild turkeys. Unless the commissioner determines that sound management principles require otherwise, the rule must establish a fall open season that includes the month of October and allow a person to take up to 2 wild turkeys regardless of sex without any additional fee for the taking of a 2nd wild turkey.

**3. Youth day.** The commissioner shall establish by rule a spring youth hunting day for hunting wild turkeys from 30 minutes before sunrise to 30 minutes after sunset. The day must be the Saturday prior to the opening of the spring open season for hunting wild turkeys under subsection 1.

A person who violates this section commits a Class E crime for which the court shall impose a fine of not less than \$500, none of which may be suspended. The court also shall impose a fine of \$500 for each turkey unlawfully possessed, none of which may be suspended.

**Sec. 4. 12 MRSA §12301-A, sub-§3, ¶B,** as enacted by PL 2003, c. 655, Pt. B, §226 and affected by §422, is amended to read:

B. Attach a seal to each bear, deer, moose or wild turkey in the manner directed and with the materials furnished by the commissioner; ~~and~~

**Sec. 5. 12 MRSA §12301-A, sub-§3, ¶C,** as amended by PL 2011, c. 660, §1, is further amended to read:

C. Collect \$5 and retain \$2 for each seal from the person registering a bear, deer, ~~or moose or wild turkey.~~ The remaining \$3 must be returned to the department by the agent pursuant to section 10801, subsection 3-; ~~and~~

**Sec. 6. 12 MRSA §12301-A, sub-§3, ¶D** is enacted to read:

D. Collect and retain \$2 for each wild turkey registered.

**Sec. 7. Lapsed balances; Department of Inland Fisheries and Wildlife carrying account.** On or before June 30, 2014 and on or before June 30, 2015 the State Controller shall lapse \$86,757 and \$98,895, respectively, from the Inland Fisheries and Wildlife Carrying Balances - General Fund account to the General Fund unappropriated surplus to offset the loss in revenue from changes made to wild turkey hunting permit fees.

See title page for effective date.

---



---

## CHAPTER 388

### S.P. 376 - L.D. 1094

#### An Act To Clarify Certification of Navigators and the Availability of Regional Health Plans

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

#### PART A

**Sec. A-1. 24-A MRSA §2188,** as enacted by PL 2011, c. 631, §1, is amended to read:

**§2188. Permitted activities of insurance producers; navigators; requirements**

**1. Definitions.** As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the following meanings.

A. "Exchange" means a health benefit exchange established or operated in this State, including a health benefit exchange established or operated by the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, pursuant to Section 1311 of the federal Affordable Care Act.

B. "Navigator" means a person selected to perform the activities and duties identified in Section 1311(i) of the federal Affordable Care Act. For the purposes of this section, if an organization or business entity serves as a navigator, an individual performing navigator duties for that organization or business entity is considered to be acting in the capacity of a navigator within the meaning of subsection 4.

**2. Prohibited activities.** Only a person Certification as a navigator under this section does not authorize a person who is not licensed as an insurance producer or consultant in this State in accordance with chapter 16 to act as an insurance producer or consult-

ant. Regardless of whether a navigator certified under this section is also licensed as an insurance producer or consultant in this State in accordance with chapter 16, or, with respect to paragraph B, a person licensed as a consultant in accordance with chapter 16, a navigator may not, while acting as a navigator for an individual, enrollee, potential enrollee or employer:

- A. Sell, solicit or negotiate health insurance;
- B. Make recommendations to purchasers, enrollees or employers or prospective purchasers or enrollees concerning the substantive benefits, terms or conditions of to choose or reject a particular health plans plan; or
- C. Enroll an individual or employee in a qualified health plan offered through an exchange or act as an intermediary between an employer and an insurer that offers a qualified health plan offered through an exchange, except that the actions of a navigator to provide assistance to an individual or employee to facilitate that individual's or employee's enrollment in a qualified health plan is not considered enrolling an individual or employee in a qualified health plan under this paragraph.

**3. Certification of navigators.** Prior to any exchange becoming operational in this State, the superintendent shall:

- A. ~~Develop criteria for use by any exchange for the selection of a navigator pursuant to Section 1311(i) of the federal Affordable Care Act and state law;~~
- B. Adopt rules to establish a certification and training program for ~~a~~ individual navigators who are not licensed as insurance producers and training requirements for all individual navigators and prospective individual navigator navigators that ~~includes~~ include initial and continuing education requirements and an examination; ~~and.~~
- C. ~~Adopt rules, to the extent permitted by the federal Affordable Care Act, that require a navigator to carry and maintain errors and omissions insurance to cover all activities contemplated or performed pursuant to this section and Section 1311(i) of the federal Affordable Care Act.~~

**4. Navigator requirements.** An individual, ~~other than a licensed insurance producer under chapter 16,~~ may not act in the capacity of a navigator unless the individual is either licensed as an insurance producer under chapter 16 or certified by the superintendent as a navigator under this section. To be certified as a navigator, an individual must:

- A. ~~Is~~ Be at least 18 years of age;
- B. Has Have completed and submitted a disclosure form, which must be developed by the super-

intendent and which may include such information as the superintendent determines necessary, and ~~has~~ have declared under penalty of refusal, suspension or revocation of the navigator certification that the statements made in the form are true, correct and complete to the best of the individual's knowledge and belief;

- C. Has Have submitted to any criminal history record check or regulatory background check required by the superintendent by rule;
- ~~D. Has not committed any act that would be a ground for denial, suspension or revocation of a producer license as set forth in section 1420-K;~~
- E. Has Have successfully completed the certification and initial training requirements and any other certification requirements adopted by the superintendent in accordance with subsection 3; and
- F. Has Have paid any fees required by the superintendent.

**5. Unfair practices.** The provisions of this chapter ~~and chapter 24~~ and any rules adopted pursuant to those chapters this chapter apply to navigators. For purposes of this section and the application of other provisions of this Title, the duties of a navigator are deemed to constitute the business of insurance. This subsection may not be construed to create or imply a private cause of action for a violation of any provision of this chapter.

**5-A. Privacy.** A navigator may not collect, use, disclose or retain personal information, as defined in section 2204, subsection 20, except for the purposes of performing the duties of a navigator or as permitted by an exchange under privacy standards adopted in accordance with the federal Affordable Care Act. A navigator is a regulated insurance entity for purposes of chapter 24 only if the navigator collects, uses, discloses or retains personal information for purposes other than performing the duties of a navigator.

**6. Denial, suspension or revocation.** The superintendent may deny, certification and may suspend or revoke the authority of a navigator certified pursuant to this section for good cause any ground specified in section 1420-K, subsection 1. The superintendent may assess civil penalties in accordance with section 12-A for violations of laws regulating the activities of navigators.

**7. Rules.** The superintendent may adopt rules as necessary to implement this section. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

**8. Construction.** This section may not be construed to prevent the application of any provisions of the federal Affordable Care Act relating to the duties of a navigator.

**PART B**

**Sec. B-1. 24-A MRSA §405-A, sub-§1,** as enacted by PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3, is amended to read:

**1. Regional insurer or health maintenance organization defined.** As used in this section, "regional insurer or health maintenance organization" means an insurer or health maintenance organization that holds a valid certificate of authority to transact individual health insurance in Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Hampshire ~~or~~ Rhode Island or Vermont.

**Sec. B-2. 24-A MRSA §405-A, sub-§2, ¶B,** as enacted by PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3, is amended to read:

B. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of section 4302 for reporting plan information with respect to individual health plans offered for sale in this State and disclose to prospective enrollees how the health plans differ from individual health plans offered by domestic insurers in a format approved by the superintendent. Health plan policies and applications for coverage must contain the following disclosure statement or a substantially similar statement on the face page of the policy or application in a type size of at least 14 points and font that is easily readable by a person with average eyesight: "This policy is issued by a regional insurer or health maintenance organization and is governed by the laws and rules of (regional insurer's or health maintenance organization's state of domicile). This policy may not be subject to all the insurance laws and rules of the State of Maine, including coverage of certain health care services or benefits mandated by Maine law. Before purchasing this policy, you should carefully review the terms and conditions of coverage under this policy, including any exclusions or limitations of coverage."

**Sec. B-3. 24-A MRSA §405-B, first ¶,** as enacted by PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4, is amended to read:

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Title, a domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization authorized to transact individual health insurance in this State may offer for sale in this State an individual health plan duly authorized for sale in Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Hampshire ~~or~~ Rhode Island or Vermont by a parent or corporate affiliate of the domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization if the following requirements are met.

**Sec. B-4. 24-A MRSA §405-B, sub-§3,** as enacted by PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4, is amended to read:

**3. Disclosure and reporting.** The domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of section 4302 for reporting plan information with respect to individual health plans offered for sale in this State and disclose to prospective enrollees how the individual health plans of the parent or corporate affiliate differ from individual health plans offered by other domestic insurers or licensed health maintenance organizations in a format approved by the superintendent. Health plan policies and applications for coverage must contain the following disclosure statement or a substantially similar statement on the face page of the policy or application in a type size of at least 14 points and font that is easily readable by a person with average eyesight: "This policy is issued by a domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization but is governed by the laws and rules of (state of domicile of parent or corporate affiliate of domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization), which is the state of domicile of the parent or corporate affiliate of the domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization. This policy may not be subject to all the insurance laws and rules of the State of Maine, including coverage of certain health care services or benefits mandated by Maine law. Before purchasing this policy, you should carefully review the terms and conditions of coverage under this policy, including any exclusions or limitations of coverage."

See title page for effective date.

---

---

**CHAPTER 389**

**H.P. 899 - L.D. 1260**

**An Act To Allow Ignition Interlock Devices on Vehicles Operated by First-time Offenders of Operating Under the Influence**

**Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:**

**Sec. 1. 29-A MRSA §2411, sub-§5, ¶A,** as amended by PL 2009, c. 447, §41, is further amended to read:

- A. For a person having no previous OUI offenses within a 10-year period:
  - (1) A fine of not less than \$500, except that if the person failed to submit to a test, a fine of not less than \$600;
  - (2) A court-ordered suspension of a driver's license for a period of ~~90~~ 150 days; and
  - (3) A period of incarceration as follows: